

QuickBooks Online Student Guide

Chapter 12 Company Activities Part II

Table of Contents

Lesson Objectives 3
Customize Form Templates 3
Create a New Custom Form Style 4
Communicating with Customers Settings 12
Class Tracking 15
Class Reporting 20
Budgets in QuickBooks 21
File Sales Taxes 25
Make Journal Entries 28

In this chapter, you'll learn how QuickBooks handles advanced transactions and tasks in QuickBooks. Growing businesses need additional features and functions to manage the new tasks they're required to manage. You'll learn how QuickBooks handles the year-end and what tasks you'll need perform.

Lesson Objectives

In this chapter, you'll learn how to:

- Customize form templates
- Setting for communicating with customers
- Setup and use class tracking
- Setup budgets
- File annual sales tax return
- · Enter year-end journal entries

🜔 Customize Form Templates

As your business grows you may want to add more customization in QuickBooks. You can customize the style of invoices, sales receipts, and estimates, plus you can control which data entry fields are available on sales forms. QuickBooks lets you add, remove, and customize items like the logo, column widths, fonts and much more.

You can add new templates as needed. You may need to customize a template for a customer, or industry type of customer or for whatever specific need your company requires.

To add a new style or customize an existing one:

- 1. Click the Gear menu.
- 2. Click Custom Form Styles.
- 3. Click New Style.

ntutickbooks	Green Tree Landscapes			⑦ Help 🔍 ႐ုံ 🀯
+ New	Custom form sty	vles		New style 🗸
Dashboard	NAME	FORM TYPE	LAST EDITED	ACTION
Banking >	Standard	Master	02/01/2020	Edit 🗸
Expenses >				
Invoicing >				
Projects				
Employees				
Reports				
Taxes				

Create a New Custom Form Style

You can create a new form style for the Invoice, Estimate and Sales Receipts. To create a new custom form style:

- 1. Click New Style.
- 2. Choose Invoice. QuickBooks opens the customization window. There are four areas that you can customize.

≡ G	reen Tree Landscapes			? Help	Q	¢	ţĝ
Cu:	stom form styles				-	v style rt style	$\overline{}$
	NAME	FORM TYPE	LAST EDITED		Invoid Estim		
	Standard	Master	02/01/2020			receipt	

3. Click **Design** to edit one of 5 areas.

Create invoices that turn heads and open wallets			Share feedback 🛛 🗙
Design Content Emails Paym	ents		
My INVOICE Template - 1-3 (56557)	Green Tree Landscapes		GREEN TREE
Dive in with a template	Invoice		LANDSCAPES
Hake logo edits	INVOICE TO Smith Co. 123 Main Street City, ON K1T 2T1	18	VOICE# 12345 DATE 07/01/2018
	ACTIVITY DESCRI	ντον ατγ	RATE AMOUNT
	Item name Description	on of the item 2	225.00 450.00
Splash on some colour	Item name Description	n of the item 1	225.00 225.00
Get choosy with your font			
When in doubt, print it out		SUBTOTAL DISCOURT 7% HST @ 10.0% GST @ 5.0% DEPOSIT TOTAL	675.00 -13.50 113.00 105.00 10.00 \$893.00
		BALANCE DUE	\$893.00
	Tax summary		
	HST @ 10		NET 450.00
	GST @ 5		450.00
	U.	Pret	view PDF Done

4. On the **Design** tab you can start with a template that QuickBooks provides for you. Click **Change up the template**.

eate invoices that tu	rn heads and ope	en wallets					Sha	re feedback
Design	Content	Emails	Payments					
My INVOICE Template	e - 1-3 (56557)			Green Tree Lan	dscapes		6	4
Airy new Airy class		Fresh	Friendly	Invoice INVOICE TO Smith Co. 123 Main Street Chy, ON K1T 2T1		INVOIC DA		N TREE SCAPES
				ACTIVITY Item name	DESCRIPTION Description of the item	QTY 2	RATE 225.00	450.00
Hake logo edit	s			Item name	Description of the item	ĩ	225.00	225.00
Splash on som	e colour							
Get choosy wit	h your font					SUBTOTAL DISCOUNT 2% HST @ 10.0% GST @ 5.0% DEPOSIT TOTAL		675.00 -13.50 113.00 105.00 10.00 \$893.00
				Tax summary	RATE	BALANCE DUE		\$893.00 NET
When in doubt	, print it out				HST @ 10.0% GST @ 5.0%	90.00 11.25		450.00 225.00
						Previe	w PDF	Done

- 5. Edit the template name.
- **6.** Choose your template style. After choosing your template, QuickBooks displays the corresponding template on the right side of the window.
- 7. Click Make logo edits.

Design	Content	Emails	Payments					
	- -			Green Tree Lan	dscapes		(3
Change up th	e template						GRE	EN TREE
				Invoice				
	S M L	Placement		INVOICE TO Smith Co. 123 Main Street City, ON K1T 2T1		INVC	DICE# 12345 DATE 07/01/201	8
	Hide logo			ACTIVITY	DESCRIPTION	YTO	RATE	AMOUNT
				Item name	Description of the item	2	225.00	450.00
				Item name	Description of the item	1	225.00	225.00
Splash on son	ne colour							
Get choosy w	ith your font					SUBTOTAL DISCOUNT 2% HST @ 10.0%		675.00 -13.50 113.00
						GST @ 5.0% DEPOSIT TOTAL		105.00 10.00 \$893.00
When in doub	ot, print it out					BALANCE DUE		\$893.00
				Tax summary	RATE	TAX		NET
					HST @ 10.0%	90.00		450.00
					GST @ 5.0%	11.25		225.00

- 8. Add a logo from your computer. Choose your **Size** and **Placement** for your company logo.
- 9. Click **Splash on some colour** to change the colors on your template.

Edit invoices that turn heads and open wallets				Share feedback 🛛 🗙
Design Content Emails Payments				
Change up the template	Green Tree Land	scapes	G	REEN TREE
	Invoice			LANDSCAPES
Make logo edits	INVOICE TO Smith Co. 123 Main Street City, ON K1T 2T1		INVOICE# 123 DATE 07/0	45 11/2018
	ACTIVITY	DESCRIPTION	QTY RATE	AMOUNT
	Item name	Description of the item	2 225.00	450.00
#4F90BB	Item name	Description of the item	1 225.00	225.00
Get choosy with your font				
			SUBTOTAL DISCOUNT 2% HST @ 10.0% GST @ 5.0% DEPOSIT	675.00 -13.50 113.00 105.00 10.00
When in doubt, print it out			TOTAL	\$893.00
	Tax summary		BALANCE DUE	\$893.00
	rak Summary	RATE	TAX	NET
		HST @ 10.0%	90.00	450.00
		GST @ 5.0%	11.25	225.00
			Preview Pl	DF Done

- **10.** Click your color and the template preview will reflect your selection. Alternatively, you can enter a color # in the field to match your template with a specific colour.
- **11.**Click **Get choosy with your font**.

Try other co	louis		
Helvetica 🗸	10pt	~	

12. Choose your font.

13. Click Edit print settings.



7

14. Edit the Page Margins.

op	Left	Bottom	Right	
0.5"	0.25"	0.5"	0.25"	Reset

After editing the Design elements, you can edit the **Content.** To edit the content settings do the following:

1. Click **Content**. The template displays on the right-side of the window in a grayed out format. There are three sections to edit: **Header**, **Body** and **Footer**.

Design Content Emails	Payments				
lick the pencils on the right to edit each section.	Green Tree L	andscapes			3
	Invoice				
	INVOICE TO Smith Co. 123 Main Street City, ON K1T 2T1		INV	/OICE# 12345 DATE 07/01/20	018
	ACTIVITY				AMOUNT
	Item name	Description of the item	2	225.00	450.00
	ltem name	Description of the item	î.	225.00	225.00
					0
					675.00 -13.50 113.00 105.00 10.00 \$893.00
			BALANCE DUE		\$893.00
	Tax summary	RATE			
		HST @ 10.0%	90.00		450.00

- 2. Click the Header to edit the content in that section.
- **3.** Select the options available to add to the Header. Uncheck any items to remove them from the Header portion of the template.

4. In the Form section you can edit the title of the form.

Design	Content	Emails	Payments					
Header				Green Tree La	ndscapes		5	
 Business name 							(9
Green Tree Lar	ndscapes							EEN TREE
Phone				Invoice				
+1 469408401	1			INVOICE TO Smith Co.		INV	OICE# 12345 DATE 07/01/20	J18
Email				123 Main Street City, ON K1T 2T1				
hank+100@inb	oxkitten.com							
+ Address				ACTIVITY	DESCRIPTION			AMOUN
+ Website				Item name	Description of the item	2	225.00	450.00
+ website				Item name	Description of the item	1	225.00	225.00
Form								
Form names								
Invoice	Invoice							675.0C
Estimate	Estimate							-13.50 113.00
								105.00 10.00
Sales receipt	Sales Receipt							\$893.00
Form numbers				Tax summary		BALANCE DUE		\$893.00
Use custom tran	saction numbers			itax summary	RATE	TAX		NET
					HST @ 10.0%	90.00		450.00

5. In the **Display** section, select or deselect all the information you want to display on the template.

Billing address
Shipping
Terms
Due date or expiration date
Customer Business Account Number

NOTE You can add up to three custom fields to a template. For example, you could track a Sales Rep on the sales invoice, or add other important information that you need to track on a sales form.

Edit invoices that turn heads and open wallets				Share feedback $ imes$
Design Content Emails Payments				
Table	Green Tree Lar	ndscapes		
Account summary				GREEN TREE LANDSCAPES
Activity table	Invoice			
COLUMNS EDIT LABELS AND WIDTHS	INVOICE TO Smith Co. 123 Main Street City, ON K1T 2T1		INVOICE# DATE	12345 07/01/2018
III Date	-			
III 🖌 Product/Service	ACTIVITY	DESCRIPTION	QTY RA	
Category	Item name Item name	Description of the item Description of the item	2 225. 1 225.	
Include Quantity and Rate	-			
III 🗸 Quantity				
iii 📝 Rate				675.00 13.50 113.00 105.00 10.00
III 🗍 Tax				\$893.00
	Tax summary		BALANCE DUE	\$893.00
III 🖌 Amount		RATE HST @ 10.0%	TAX 90.00	NET 450.00
			Preview	

6. Click the **Body** of the template to edit the body of the form. QuickBooks displays a new set of customization options. In this section you can add or remove columns, reorder columns (left to right) and edit the column labels and widths.

CC	DLUMNS	EDIT LABELS AND WIDTHS
	Date	
	Product/Service Include description here Category	
	Description Include Quantity and Rate	
	✓ Quantity	

10

7. Select the column options on the left-hand column. Drag and drop the icon next to the Column title to reorder the columns.

nvoices that turn heads and o	pen wallets							Share feedback
Design Content	Ema	ils	Payments					
able				Green Tree L	andscapes			2
Account summary								5
Show on invoice								
ctivity table				Invoice				
31 21	HIDE LABELS AND	WIDTHS		INVOICE TO Smith Co. 123 Main Street City, ON K1T 2T1			DICE# 12345 DATE 07/01/20	118
Date								
Product/Service		-		ACTIVITY	DESCRIPTION	άτγ	RATE	AMOUNT
Include description here	Activity	-0	20	Item name	Description of the item	2	225.00	450.00
Category				Item name	Description of the item	1	225.00	225.00
Description	Description		43					
Quantity	Qty	0	10					675.0C
Rate	Rate	-	10					-13.50
Rate	Rate		10					105.00 10.00
Tax		-						\$893.00
				Tax summary		BALANCE DUE		\$893.00
Amount	Amount	0	16		RATE	TAX		NET
					HST @ 10.0%	90.00		450.00

8. Click Edit Labels and Widths. Edit the title of the column. Drag the slider option to edit the width of the column. The template will adjust accordingly.

lit invoices that turn heads and open wallets		Share feedback >
Design Content Emails Payments		
Footer Display	Green Tree Landscapes	GREEN TREE LANDSCAPES
Tax summary Tax summary Kessage to customer on Invoices and other sales forms	Invoice NV00E TO Smith Co. 122 Main Street City, ON K17271	INVOICE# 12345 DATE 0701/2018
We appreciate your business and look forward to helping you again soon.	ACTIVITY DESCRIPTION Item name Description of the Item Item name Description of the Item	OTY RATE ANOUN 2 225.00 450.00 1 225.00 228.00
Add payment details and footer Give your customers some payment detail options for how you'd like to be paid (email		
for e-money transfer, bank account number for bank transfers)		SUBITORIAL 675.00 DISCOUNT 2% -13.50 HST 010% 113.00 COT 65.05% 106.00 DEPOSIT 10.00 TOTAL \$883.00
	Tax summary RATE HST @ 10.0%	BALANCE DUE \$893.00 TAX NET 90.00 450.00
	HST @ 10.0%	Preview PDF Done

9. Finally, click the **Footer** to edit the footer information on the template. Edit the fields to display the messages and other information for the customer.

- **10.** To edit the email settings when sending emails to customers, click the **Emails** link.
- 11. Edit the Subject and Message to Customer and any other email information.

Click **Preview PDF** to view a preview of the template. Click **Done** to complete the customization.

nvoices that turn heads and open wallets	Share fe	edback X
Design Content Emails Payments	Subject Invoice 12345 from Green Tree Landscapes From quickbooks@notification.intuit.com	
Invoice How your invoice appears in emails	GREEN TREE LANDSCAPES Green Tree Landscapes	
Edit the email your customers get with every sent form	Dear [customer full name] Here's your invoice! We appreciate your prompt payment.	
Subject Invoice [Invoice No.] from Green Tree Landscapes	Thanks for your business! Green Tree Landscapes INVOICE 12345 DETAILS	
Use greeting Dear V [FullName] V Message to customer Here's your invoice! We appreciate your prompt payment. Thanks for your business! Green Trev Landscapes	\$893.00	
1	Preview PDF	Done

Green Tree Landso	apes			GREEN	S N TREE
				LANDS	SCAPES
INVOICE					
INVOICE TO Hilltop Dry Goods 123 Main Street City, ON K1T 2T1				E# 12345 TE 12/01/20	16
ACTIVITY	DESCRIPTION		QTY	RATE	AMOUNT
Product name Service name	Description of the product Description of the service		2 1	225.00 225.00	450.00 225.00
		SUBTOTAL TOTAL BALANCE DUE			675.00 893.00 \$893.00
TAX SUMMARY					
	RATE	TAX			NET
	HST @ 10.0%	113.00			450.00
	GST @ 5.0%	105.00			225.00

To learn how to customize sales forms watch this video: https://youtu.be/UmY758NrNKc

12

Communicating with Customers Settings

QuickBooks makes it easy to communicate with your customers. You can email forms directly from QuickBooks making it easy for your customer view and pay their invoices. There are several important settings you can use to manage the email communication. To review these settings, go to **Account and Settings** and then click **Sales** and then click **Messages**.

Account and Se	ttings	
Company	Progress Invoicing	Create multiple partial invoices from a single estimate Off
Usage	Messages	Default email message sent with sales forms
Sales		✓ Use greeting Dear ▼ [Full Name] ▼ Sales form ⑦
Expenses		Invoice Vise standard message
Time		Email subject line
Advanced		Invoice [Invoice No.] from Long for Suc Email message
		We appreciate your business. Please find your invoice details here. Feel free to contact us if you have any questions.
		Have a great day! Long for Success Event Planning
		Email me a copy at donotreply@intuit.com Copy (Cc) new invoices to address
		Cc (Separate multiple emails with a comma)
		Blind Copy (Bcc) new invoices to address
		Bcc (Separate multiple emails with a comma) Sales form
		Estimate • ⑦
		Cancel

Edit the email details for the default email messaging. You can setup a default for estimates, credit memos, sales receipts, statements, and refund receipts.

Invoice
Estimate
Credit Memo
Sales Receipt
Statement
Refund Receip

Edit the Email message as needed for each form. You can choose to email yourself a copy by selecting **Email me a copy at....**

nt and Settings	
Progress Invoicing	Create multiple partial invoices from a single estimate Off
Messages	Default email message sent with sales forms
	Use greeting Dear [Full Name] Sales form ⑦
	Invoice Use standard message
	Email subject line Invoice [Invoice No.] from Long for Suc
	Email message
	We appreciste your business. Please find your invoice details here. Feel free to contact us if you have any questions.
	Have a great day! Long for Success Event Planning
	Email me a copy at donotreply@intuit.com Copy (Cc) new invoices to address
	Cc (Separate multiple emails with a comma)
	Blind Copy (Bcc) new invoices to address Bcc (Separate multiple emails with a comma)
	Sales form
	Estimate 🔻 💿
	Cancel

Click Save. Click the Reminders section to edit the default email message sent with reminders.

Account and Settings	
Company	removes them from all invoices.
Usage	Reminder 1 On 🔺
Sales	3 v day(s) Before v due date
Expenses	Use [Invoice No.] and [Company Name] as placeholders in the email.
Time	Subject line
	Reminder: Your payment to Long for Success Event Planning is c
Advanced	Use email greeting Dear V [Full Name] V
	Email message
	We're sending a reminder to let you know that invoice [Invoice No.] has not been paid. If you already paid this invoice or have any questions, let us know!
	Have a great day! Long for Success Event Planning
	Use default reminder message
	Reminder 2 (On due date) Off v
	Reminder 3 (3 day(s) after due date) Off v
	Cancel Save

14

You can enable automatic reminders in QuickBooks Online. This feature automatically sends reminder emails to customers about their outstanding invoices. You can setup up to three reminders.

Slide **Automatic Invoice Reminders** to on. Now you can edit the reminder information for the reminder series.

Send Reminders

You can send reminders for overdue/outstanding invoice form the Customer centre.

- 1. Click Sales and then click Customers.
- 2. Choose a **Customer** with an overdue balance and click the drop-down arrow next to their name.

3. Click Send Reminder.

n quickbooks.	≡						(?) Help	Q Ç	礅	R
+ New	Sales									
Dashboard >	Overview All sales Invoices Customer	Products and services								
Banking >	Customers					(Customer types	New	ustomer	~
Sales >										
Customers & leads	Unbilled	.ast 365 Days	Unpaid Last 365 Days	_	 	Paid				-
Cash flow	\$44,234 \$29, 2 ESTIMATES 6 UNBIL	275 LED ACTIVITY	\$14,069 s OVERDUE			\$5,763 2 PAID LAST 30 DAYS				
Expenses >										-
Projects										~
Payroll	Do you organize sub-customers as projects? You	can convert the first level of sub-sur-	tomars into their own project.	Company						K
Reports	U Do you organize sub castoniars as projects, ros		amere into their own project.	Convertinow						
Taxes	Batch actions • Find a cost Q								50	
Mileage	CUSTOMER / PROJECT & / COMPANY	PHONE		SALES TAX	CURRENCY		OPEN BALANCE		ACTIO	
Accounting >	Abercrombie International Group				USD		\$0.00	Cri	ate invoice	-
My accountant	Adwin Ko					-				-
Apps >	Ko International Ltd	604 999-9998			CAD		\$1,695.00	Rocol Send rem	re payment (7
	Alex Blakey Blakey Group				USD		\$0.00	Create sta		1.1
	Andre Prefontaine							Create in	oice	
	Andre's Bakeries				HKD		HK\$0.00	Create sa		
	Anilkumar Pillal				CAD		\$4,407.00		omate o poymont	1
										_

Го	Cc/Bcc
higgs_l@example.ca	
Subject	
Reminder: Invoice [Invoice No.] from Gre	en Tree Landscapes
Message	
yet. Let us know if you have questions. Thanks for your business! Green Tree Landscapes	
Cancel	Send

Class Tracking

Classes provide a system for categorizing transactions that goes beyond the basic ways of assigning transactions to expense or income accounts. A common accounting term used is "departments". Class tracking lets you track your income and expenses by department, business unit, separate properties you own, or any other meaningful breakdown of your business.

With classes, you can categorize each detail line on a transaction. This lets you write one cheque to the office supply store for things bought for two different classes and still track the business unit for those purchases.

For example, suppose you have a consulting business and an installation business. Class tracking is ideal for you if it is typical to have purchases and sales that include both types of work. By specifying the appropriate class on each detail line, you can run a **Profit and loss by Class** report that will tell you if your consulting business is more or less profitable than the installation business.

Examples of how people use classes are:

- Departments
- Enterprises

Partners

Manufacturers

Properties

- Product lines
- Construction industry standard categories (General, Site Work, Concrete, Masonry, and so on)

NOTE Classes are only available in the QuickBooks Online Plus version of QuickBooks.

Using Classes Overview

- 1. Turn on class tracking (in Account and Settings).
- 2. Add classes that are meaningful to your business.
- **3.** When you enter invoices, cheques, credit card charges, or other transactions, assign a class to the transaction (or detail lines of the transaction), if it makes sense.
- 4. Create Class Reports.

Here are some general tips for using classes:

- Set up classes according type of reporting that you want to do, and consider how you want to see your business segmented on reports.
- Set up a class such as "other" that you can use to deliberately classify transactions that don't fit into any specific class that you've defined.
- Don't use classes for two different purposes. For example, don't create classes for tracking office residential/commercial business in addition to tracking partners.

• Consistently enter the class information on your forms and registers to ensure that Class information is valid and useful.

Enable Class Tracking

To enable class tracking:

- 1. Click the Gear menu.
- 2. Click Account and Settings.
- 3. Click Advanced and then click Categories.

Choose the appropriate options for tracking classes.

- 1. Select Track Classes.
- 2. Select the option labeled Warn me when a transaction isn't assigned a class. This option makes sure you don't forget to add class information to every transaction by reminding you to add class tracking to sales, expenses, and other transactions.
- 3. Choose the Assign Classes option. You can choose one of the two following options:
 - a. One to entire transaction. This means that you're going to assign one class per transaction. Choose this option is you never make purchases or sales with multiple classes.
 - **b.** One to each row in transaction. Choose this option if you want to assign more than one class per transaction. For example, if you purchase supplies at Home Depot you will assign a portion of the supplies to Class A and another portion to Class B. This option requires more work, but may be required for accurate class tracking in your business.
- 4. Click Save.

Account and	Settings			(?) Help
Company				
Sales	Company type	Tax form	Sole proprietor	Ø
Expenses	Chart of accounts	Enable account numbers Discount account	Off Discounts given	Ø
Advanced		Markup income account Billable expense income account	Markup Billable Expense Income	
	Categories	Track classes ③ ✓ Warn me when a transaction isn't assigned a Assign classes One to each row in transaction ▼ Track locations ③ Cancel Save	class	
	Automation	Pre-fill forms with previously entered content Automatically apply credits Automatically invoice unbilled activity Automatically apply bill payments	On On On	0
	Projects	Organize all job-related activity in one place	On	19

Add Classes

Now you'll add classes that apply to your business. You can add classes as you go, but it's a good practice to set them up in advance. To add classes, open the Class list.

- 1. Click the Gear menu.
- 2. Click All Lists.

YOUR COMPANY	LISTS	TOOLS	PROFILE
Account and settings	All lists	Order cheques	Feedback
Manage users	Products and services	Import data	Privacy
Custom form styles	Recurring transactions	Import desktop data	
Chart of accounts	Attachments	Export data	
QuickBooks labs	Currencies	Reconcile	
		Budgeting	
		Audit log	
		SmartLook	

- 3. Click Classes. QuickBooks displays the Class list.
- 4. Click New.
- 5. Enter the Name of the class.
- 6. Click Save.

Class	×
*Name	
Winter Services	
Is sub-class	
Cancel	Save

NOTE QuickBooks Online allows you to setup sub-classes under classes. To do this add the new class and sub class enter it in the following format: Construction: Residential. The colon is required to identify the sub-class.

Tracking Classes on Transactions

After setting up classes you must ensure that every transaction in QuickBooks includes a class. This means that every income or expense transactions must include a class. QuickBooks labels that transaction with the class you choose and then reports on classes in the Profit & Loss report.

Classing Sales Transactions

After turning on classes you will see a class field on every transaction. Depending on your setting you may have one field for every transaction or you may see class on every line item on transactions. To track classes on sales transactions:

- 1. Click the + New menu.
- 2. Click Invoice.
- 3. Enter the details of the transaction as you normally would.
- 4. Choose the **Class** on the transaction.
- 5. Click Save. QuickBooks labels the transaction (sales amount) to be added to Class reports.

🕑 Invoice								足 Take a tour	\$\$\$ (?	Help	×
Customer 💿	Customer email ⑦		Online payments Get set up						1	BALANCE	DUE
Blakey's Bin Liners	blakeybins@example		🔤 Cards 🛛 😻 🥗 🗠	39					\$20	0.0	0
	Send later ?	Cc/Bcc									
Billing address	Terms ⑦	Invoice date	Due date								
Blakey's Bin Liners Blakey's Bin Liners	Net 30	03/01/2020	02/02/2020								
49 Máin Barrie ON M4N 3J8	Sales Rep										
								Amounts are	entore	(7	лî
								Amounts are	Exclusive o	ir lax •	
# PRODUCT/SERVICE	DESCRIPTION			QTY	RATE	AMOUNT	SALES TAX	CLASS			
1 Snow removal	Snow removal			1	200	200.00	Enter Text	- Summe	er Services	•	j
III 2								+ Add	Inew	â	1
Add lines Clear all lines	nes Add subtotal							Summ	er Services	00.0	00
Message on invoice							Discount p		Services	\$0.0	00
This will show up on the invoice							Discountp				
Cancel Clear		Pi	int or Preview Make recur	ring Cus	tomize			Save	Save an	nd close	-

Classing Expense Transactions

You'll add classes to expense and purchase transactions in the same way.

- 1. Click the + New menu.
- 2. Click Expense.

- 3. Enter the details of the transaction as you normally would.
- 4. Choose the **Class** on the transaction.

Expense										
ayee	Payment account (?)							-		AMOUN
Bobcat Unlimited	▼ Mastercard	Balance \$2,940.00						\$	630	.00
ayment date Paymer	nt method								Ref no.	
03/01/2020 What	did you pay with?									
							Am	nounts are Exc	lusive of Ta	x •
 Category details 							Am	nounts are Exc	lusive of Ta	ix •
▼ Category details # CATEGORY ⑦	DESCRIPTION		AMOUNT	SALES TAX	BILLABLE ⑦	CUSTOMER ⑦	Am	CLASS	lusive of Ta	ix •
	DESCRIPTION Snow removal outsourced		AMOUNT 600.00	SALES TAX GST ¥		CUSTOMER ③	Am			ix ▼ □
# CATEGORY (?)								CLASS		
CATEGORY ⑦ CATEGORY ⑦ Subcontractors 2	Snow removal outsourced							CLASS Winter Service	25 v	â
# CATEGORY ⑦ • 1 Subcontractors	Snow removal outsourced							CLASS Winter Service + Add new	vices	â
1 Subcontractors 2	Snow removal outsourced							CLASS Winter Service + Add new Summer Ser	vices	ā
# CATEGORY ⑦ • 1 Subcontractors III 2 Add lines Clear all lines	Snow removal outsourced							CLASS Winter Service + Add new Summer Ser	rices	ā
CATEGORY ③ CATEGORY ③ Subcontractors I Subcontractors Add lines Clear all lines Item details	Snow removal outsourced					Enter Text		CLASS Winter Service + Add new Summer Servi Winter Servi	vices ses	亩 亩 .00.00
CATEGORY ⑦ Subcontractors 1 Subcontractors 2 Add lines Clear all lines Item details	Snow removal outsourced					Enter Text		CLASS Winter Service + Add new Summer Servi Winter Servi	vices res \$6	â

5. Click Save. QuickBooks labels the transaction (expense amount) to be added to Class reports.

20

Class Reporting

This report shows how much you are making or losing within each segment of your business, as defined by the QuickBooks classes you have set up. To create a Profit and Loss by Class report:

- 1. Click Reports.
- 2. Scroll to Business Overview.
- 3. Click Profit and Loss by Class.

of the state of th	Green Tree Landscapes				? Help	Q	٥	ţĝ
+ New	Reports							
Dashboard Banking	Standard Custom reports Management	reports	Q. Find report by name					
Expenses >								
Invoicing >	✓ Business overview							
Projects	Audit Log		Profit and Loss year-to-date comparison	☆	:			
Employees	Balance Sheet Comparison	☆ :	Profit and Loss by Class		:			
Reports	Balance Sheet Detail	슈 :	Profit and Loss by Customer	슈	:			
	Balance Sheet Summary	ය :	Profit and Loss by Month	슈	:			
Taxes	Balance Sheet ⑦	\star E.	Profit and Loss	*	1			
Mileage	Business Snapshot	☆	Quarterly Profit and Loss Summary	☆	:			
Accounting >	Profit and Loss as % of total income	습 :	Statement of Cash Flows	ŝ	:	5		_
My Accountant	Profit and Loss Comparison	☆ :	Statement of Changes in Equity	\Box	: (- 1	

QuickBooks displays the Profit and Loss broken down by classes.

Collapse Sort Add notes			
G	reen Tree Lands	scapes	
	PROFIT AND LOSS BY January 1-3, 2020		
	SUMMER SERVICES	WINTER SERVICES	τοται
- INCOME			
Sales	4,000.00	50,000.00	\$54,000.00
Total Income	\$4,000.00	\$50,000.00	\$54,000.00
GROSS PROFIT	\$4,000.00	\$50,000.00	\$54,000.00
- EXPENSES			
Freight and Delivery	-200.00		\$ -200.00
Rent or lease payments	3,000.00		\$3,000.00
Subcontractors	-474.00	600.00	\$126.00
Total Expenses	\$2,326.00	\$600.00	\$2,926.00
PROFIT	\$1,674.00	\$49,400.00	\$51,074.00

NOTE There is a **NOT SPECIFIED** column on the report. This means that these transactions have not been assigned a class. If you have a lot of information in this column it typically means that your reports will not be accurate. You should review these transactions and add a class to each one to ensure that each transaction include a class. To drill down on any transaction, click the amounts on the report.

Collapse Sort▼ Add notes			E	┚╏┣┍╸┊								
	Green Tree	Landscapes										
PROFIT AND LOSS BY CLASS January 1-3, 2020												
	SUMMER SERVICES	WINTER SERVICES	NOT SPECIFIED	TOTAL								
- INCOME												
Sales	4,000.00	50,000.00	2,000.00	\$56,000.00								
Total Income	\$4,000.00	\$50,000.00	\$2,000.00	\$56,000.00								
GROSS PROFIT	\$4,000.00	\$50,000.00	\$2,000.00	\$56,000.00								
- EXPENSES												
Freight and Delivery	-200.00			\$ -200.00								
Job Materials			0.00	\$0.00								
Rent or lease payments	3,000.00			\$3,000.00								
Subcontractors	-474.00	600.00	-3,799.00	\$ -3,673.00								
Total Expenses	\$2,326.00	\$600.00	\$ -3,799.00	\$ -873.00								
PROFIT	\$1,674.00	\$49,400.00	\$5,799.00	\$56,873.00								

To learn how to use class tracking watch this video: https://youtu.be/fewOEzSRU4w

Budgets in QuickBooks

You can use a budget to estimate future income and expenses. Then, as time goes by, you can compare actual income and expense activity with your budget.

A basic budget includes a row for each of your income and expense accounts. There is a column for each month. Additionally, you can track an amount in the intersection of each row and column.

A subdivided budget lets you be even more specific about what you track. You can track monthly account amounts for each class, each department/location, or each customer.

NOTE Budgets are only available in QuickBooks Online Plus.

To create a budget in QuickBooks:

- 1. Click the Gear menu.
- 2. Click Budgeting.

o quickbooks.	∃• Green Tree Landscapes	(?) Help	Q	¢	鐐	۸
+ New						
Dashboard >						
Banking >						
Sales >						
Customers & leads						
Cash flow >						
Expenses >	Add your first budget					
Projects	Budgets make growing your business easker Just pre-fill with your data, add your targets, and start towards your goal.					
Payroll >	Add budget					
Reports	A B B B B B B B B B B B B B B B B B B B					
Taxes >						
Mileage						

3. Click Add budget.

QuickBooks lets you create a budget in 2 different ways:

Actual amounts from–This method of budgeting will pull actual amounts from the selected period.

No Amounts. Create budget from scratch-You will create the budgets from scratch.

ame *	Fiscal Year	n 2020 - Dec 202		nterval Monthly		ll data?	Subdivide						
FY20	F12020 (Jan	n 2020 - Dec 202	0, V	wonthiy	▼ No		Don't sub	divide 🗸					
CCOUNTS	JAN	FEB	MAR	APR	MAY	JUN	JUL	AUG	SEP	ост	NOV	DEC	тот
INCOME													
Billable Expense Income													
Discounts													
Discounts given													
Refunds-Allowances													
Sales													
Sales of Product Income													
Shipping and Delivery Income													
Shipping Income							VIE	- V V					
Unapplied Cash Payment Inco						RE							
Uncategorized Income													
Uncategorized Income (9)				22									
Total Income	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.
OTHER INCOME													

- 1. Enter a Name for your budget.
- 2. Choose the Fiscal Year.
- 3. Choose your Interval. This means the monthly, quarterly or other time periods for the budget.
- 4. Choose to Pre-fill data.
- 5. QuickBooks let you **subdivide** the budget by **Classes, Customers, or Location.** This is helpful when budgeting for large projects or locations.
- 6. Click Save.

Name *													
FY 20 Budget by Department													
ACCOUNTS	JAN	FEB	MAR	APR	MAY	JUN	JUL	AUG	SEP	ост	NOV	DEC	TOTAL
Total Income	100,000.00	100,000.00	100,000.00	100,000.00	100,000.00	100,000.00	100,000.00	100,000.00	100,000.00	100,000.00	100,000.00	100,000.00	1,200,00
- OTHER INCOME													
Interest earned													
Other Ordinary Income													
Other Portfolio Income													
Total Other Income	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00
- COST OF GOODS SOLD													
Cost of Goods Sold	23,000.00	23,000.00	23,000.00	23,000.00	23,000.00	23,000.00	23,000.00	23,000.00	23,000.00	23,000.00	23,000.00	23,000.00	276,000.00
Cost of Labour - COS													
Freight and delivery - COS	1,000.00	1,000.00	1,000.00	1,000.00	1,000.00	1,000.00	1,000.00	1,000.00	1,000.00	1,000.00	1,000.00	1,000.00	12,000.00
Inventory Shrinkage													
Legal and professional fees	3,000.00						1,500.00	>					4,500.00
i ulchases • COU			· · · · · ·										

To learn how to setup budgets watch this video: https://youtu.be/ISwgviuRk-Y

Reporting on Budgets

QuickBooks includes two important reports for budgeting. To review your budget, you can create the Budget Overview report.

- 1. Click **Reports** and then click **Business Overview**.
- 2. Click Budget Overview.

Collapse Sort▼ Add notes		⊻ 🖞 🖓 .							
Green Tree Landscapes A BUDGET OVERVIEW: FY20 BY DEPARTMENT - FY20 P&L CLASSES January - December 2020									
	SUMMER SERVICES	τοτα							
→ Income									
Sales	48,000.00	\$48,000.0							
Total Income	\$48,000.00	\$48,000.0							
- Cost of Goods Sold									
Cost of Labour - COS	120,000.00	\$120,000.0							
Freight and delivery - COS	2,400.00	\$2,400.0							
Subcontractors - COS	240,000.00	\$240,000.0							
Total Cost of Goods Sold	\$362,400.00	\$362,400.0							
GROSS PROFIT	\$-314,400.00	\$-314,400.0							
- Expenses									
Freight and Delivery	-200.00	\$ -200.0							
Rent or lease payments	3,000.00	\$3,000.0							
Subcontractors	-474.00	\$ -474.0							
Total Expenses	\$2,326.00	\$2,326.0							
NET OPERATING INCOME	\$ -316,726.00	\$-316,726.0							
NET INCOME	\$ -316,726.00	\$-316,726.0							

To view your progress against your budget, open the **Budget vs. Actuals** Report. This report compares the budgeted amount to the actual amount in income or expensed. QuickBooks also provides you with % of budget and amounts over budget.

Collapse Sort▼ Add notes										[} , ⊾ {
							Green Tree	e Landscape	S	
					BUI	DGET VS. A	CTUALS: FY20 BY			SES
		SUMM	ER SERVICES	1		WIN	ITER SERVICES			
	ACTUAL	BUDGET	OVER BUDGET	% OF BUDGET	ACTUAL	BUDGET	OVER BUDGET	% OF BUDGET	ACTUAL	BUDG
- Income										
Sales	4,000.00	48,000.00	-44,000.00	8.33 %	50,000.00		50,000.00		2,000.00	
Total Income	\$4,000.00	\$48,000.00	\$ -44,000.00	8.33 %	\$50,000.00	\$0.00	\$50,000.00	0.00%	\$2,000.00	\$0.
- Cost of Goods Sold										
Cost of Labour - COS		120,000.00	-120,000.00							
Freight and delivery - COS		2,400.00	-2,400.00							
Subcontractors - COS		240,000.00	-240,000.00							
Total Cost of Goods Sold	\$0.00	\$362,400.00	\$-362,400.00	0.00%	\$0.00	\$0.00	\$0.00	0.00%	\$0.00	\$0.
GROSS PROFIT	\$4,000.00	\$-314,400.00	\$318,400.00	-1.27 %	\$50,000.00	\$0.00	\$50,000.00	0.00%	\$2,000.00	\$0.
- Expenses										
Freight and Delivery	-200.00	-200.00	0.00	100.00 %						
Job Materials									0.00	
Rent or lease payments	3,000.00	3,000.00	0.00	100.00 %						
Subcontractors	-474.00	-474.00	0.00	100.00 %	600.00		600.00		-3,799.00	
Total Expenses	\$2,326.00	\$2,326.00	\$0.00	100.00 %	\$600.00	\$0.00	\$600.00	0.00%	\$-3,799.00	\$0.
NET OPERATING INCOME	\$1,674.00	\$-316,726.00	\$318,400.00	-0.53 %	\$49,400.00	\$0.00	\$49,400.00	0.00%	\$5,799.00	\$0.0

File Sales Taxes

Filing sales tax is a two-part process. First, prepare your sales tax return in QuickBooks. Second, close your filing period in QuickBooks and record the payment to the CRA.

Step 1 - Prepare your return

- 1. In the navigation bar, click Taxes.
- 2. Click Prepare Return.

of quickbooks.	≡ Sample Company					(?) Help	Q	¢ \$	R
(+ Now	Sales Tax						Manage	sales tax	
Dashboard >	Canada Revenue Agency								
Banking >	\$255.95								
Sales >	November 17 - December 31, 2022 CURRENT PERIOD								
Customers & leads >	CURRENT PERIOD								
Cash flow	~								
Expenses >						New		ports 🗸	
Projects	Filings Payments								
Payroll									^
Reports	All								
Taxes	All								
CONTRACTOR AND A DECISION OF A DECISIONO OF A DECISI	To file								
Accounting >			0	0	0				
My accountant	\$255.95 GST/HST	November 17 - December 31, 2022	Prepared	Filed	Paid		-	Prepare retur	n Y
Apps >									
	Filed								
	\$340.69 GST/HST	August 19 - November 16, 2022	Prepared	Filed				Record paymer	it 🖂

3. Edit the start date and the end date to match your tax period.

Filing period Start date Quarterly 17/11/2022	End date Filing date 31/12/2022 10/05/2023	\$25	55.9
		н	ow to file a re
Goods and Services / Harmonized S Canada Revenue Agency	ales Tax Return		GST62
Long for Success Event Planning (17/11/2022 - 31/12/2022	Business account # 99-1234567)	Acc Filing date: 10	rual basis)/05/2023
Sales and other revenue	Line 101	\$9,049.80	
GST/HST collected or collectible	Line 103	\$1,176.48	Adjust
Adjustments (Sales)	Line 104	\$0.00	Adjust
Total GST/HST and adjustments for period	Line 105	\$1,176.48	
Input tax credits (ITCs).	Line 106	\$920.53	Adjust
Adjustments (Purchases).	Line 107	\$0.00	Adjust
Iotal IICs and adjustments	Line 108	\$920.53	
Net Tax	Line 109	\$255.95	
Instalments and other annual filer payments		\$0.00	
Rebates	Line 111	\$0.00	Adjust
Total other gradita	Line 112	\$0.00	

- 4. Enter the Filing Date.
- 5. Click Mark as Filed.
- 6. Click Continue.

All done?	×
This will mark your return as filed and close the books for this GST/HST period. Transactions from this period that are changed later will show up in the GST/HST exception report.	
Cancel)

7. Click Record payment.

?	Sales ta	x marked as fil	ed	×
	oaid this sal up-to-date.		a payment now to keep your	
Pay	later		Record payment	

- 8. Choose your payment information including the account, payment date and payment amount.
- 9. Click Record Payment to pay the sales tax liability in QuickBooks.

Sales tax payment					() ×
	PAYMENT TO Canada Revenue Agency	PAYMENT FROM Choquing	PAYMENT DATE 10/05/2023	total payment \$255.95	
	Outstanding tax payments				
	REMAINING BALANCE	FIUNG AMOUNT	FILING PERIOD	PAYMENT AMOUNT	
	✓ \$255.95	\$255.95	November 17 - December 31, 2022	255.95	
	\$340.69	\$340.69	August 19 - November 16, 2022	340.69	
	\$1,495.62	\$1,495.62	April 19 - August 18, 2022	1,495.62	
			Tax filings total Remaining balance	\$255.95 \$255.95	
			Total payment	\$255.95	
					dd interest/penalty Record payment

NOTE This does not record the sales tax payment with the CRA or Minister of Finance (or other provincial authority).

💿 quickbooks.	≡ « Sample Company			③ Holp Q Q 錄 🖪
+ New Dashboard	Sales Tax			Manage sales tax
Banking > Sales > Customors & loads >	Canada Revenue Agency - \$742.32 January 1 - March 31, 2023 CURRENT PERIOD			
Cash flow Expenses > Projects	Filings Payments			New V Reports V
Payroll Reports Taxes				A.
Mileage	To file			
My accountant	- \$742.32 GST/HST REFUND	January 1 - March 31, 2023	Prepared Filed Refunded	Proparo roturn 🔍 🗸
	Filed			
	\$255.95 GST/MST	November 17 - December 31, 2022	Propored Filed Paid	View summary 🗸 🗸

To learn how to file sales tax watch this video: https://youtu.be/C1lhGG9Ssp8

Make Journal Entries

At the end of your fiscal year, QuickBooks automatically closes out your income and expense accounts and make the necessary adjustments to the Retained Earnings account. If you need to do additional journal entries, you can make them using the **Journal Entry** window.

- 1. Click the + New menu.
- 2. Click Journal Entry.
- 3. Enter the date.
- 4. Enter the **Debit** and **Credit** amounts.
- 5. Enter any memo.
- 6. Repeat for each line of the entry.
- 7. Click Save.

9 Jo	ouri	nal Entry no.1						Ś	🥐 Help 🗙
<i>c</i>									
Currency CAD C		ian Dollar 🔻							
Journal o	date					Journal no.			
02/01/	2020					1			
	#	ACCOUNT	DEBITS (CAD)	CREDITS (CAD)	DESCRIPTION		NAME	SALES TAX	
	1	Prepaid expenses	100.00						靣
ш	2	Commissions and fees		100.00					節
	3								亩
	4								亩
ш	5								靣
	6								靣
	7								亩
	8								節
	T		1	<u>+</u>					
Cance		Clear			Make	recurring		Save Save	e and new 👻